

# New Insights in the Study of Strawberry Fungal Pathogens

# Carlos Garrido • María Carbú • Francisco Javier Fernández-Acero • Victoria E. González-Rodríguez • Jesús M. Cantoral\*

Laboratory of Microbiology, Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, Environmental and Marine Sciences Faculty. University of Cádiz, 11510, Puerto Real, Spain Corresponding author: \* jesusmanuel.cantoral@uca.es

# ABSTRACT

Strawberry (*Fragaria ananassa*) is one of the world's most commercially important fruit crops, and is grown in many countries The commercial viability of the crop is continually subject to various risks, one of the most serious of which is the diseases caused by phytopathogenic organisms. More than 50 different genera of fungi can affect this cultivar, including *Botrytis* spp., *Colletotrichum* spp., *Verticillium* spp., and *Phytophthora* spp. The development of new molecular biology technologies, based on genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics approaches, is revealing new insights on the diverse pathogenicity factors causing fungal invasion, degradation and destruction of the fruit (*in planta* and during storage and transport). Researchers have focused attention on the plant's own defence mechanisms against these pathogens. In this review, advances in the study and detection of fungal plant pathogens, new biocontrol methods, and proteomic approaches are described and the natural defence mechanisms recently discovered are reported.

Keywords: biocontrol, elicitor, molecular tools, proteomics, real-time PCR

Abbreviations: AFLP, amplified fragment length polymorphism; APS, America phytopathological society; CECT, Spanish type culture collection; CTAB, cetyl trimethyl ammonium bromide; CUE, critical use exemption; DGGE, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; EPPO, the European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization; FAO, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; GADPH, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; IGS, interGenic spacer; ITS, internal transcribed spacer; LUX, light upon extension; MALDI-TOF, matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight; MDH, malate dehydrogenase; MeBr, methyl bromide; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; PIC, chloropicrin; PMF, peptide mass fingerprinting; RAPD, random amplified polymorphic DNA; RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism; SCAR, sequence characterized amplified region; QPS, quarantine and preshipment; U.S., United States

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	24
MAIN STRAWBERRY FUNGAL DISEASES	26
Leaf diseases	26
Fruit diseases	28
Crown and root diseases	29
BIOCONTROL OF DISEASES	30
DIAGNOSIS AND MONITORING OF DISEASES	32
PROTEOMICS APPROACHES AS A TOOL TO STUDY STRAWBERRY FUNGAL PATHOGENS	
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	37
REFERENCES	37

# INTRODUCTION

The genus Fragaria is a member of the Rosaceae family, *Rosoideae* subfamily, which comprises twenty eight species and several subspecies. Fragaria x ananassa Duch. is the most important species commercially, being the predominant species cultivated for strawberry production globally (FAO 2000); it is, however, of only recent historical origin. Prior to the relatively recent development of F. x ananassa, other species, such as F. chiloensis, F. virginiana, F. vesca and F. moschata, had been cultivated in Europe, America and Asia for centuries (JA 2004). Over the last two hundred and 50 years, these species were largely superseded by cultivation of F. x ananassa. In the middle of the  $18^{th}$  century, the North American F. virginiana Duchesne (male) and the South American F. chiloensis Duchesne (female) were crossed in France, leading to production of hybrid seedlings that came to be known as Pineapple or Pine strawberries (Maas 1998). These hybrids are the progenitors of the

modern cultivated strawberry *F. x ananassa* Duch. In the following years, after further hybridizations, *F. x ananassa* developed a larger, more fragrant and tastier red berry than its progenitors and, in the middle years of the 1800's, this new species was introduced into America from Europe. Cultivation of the other older species has progressively declined and they have been superseded by *F. x ananassa*; the other species are only occasionally grown domestically or in small isolated regions around the world (Bertelson 2010).

Many different cultivars or varieties of F. x ananassa are found around the world. Since this species has been distributed and cultivated very widely geographically, new cultivars are constantly appearing because the strawberry plant is strongly influenced by photoperiod, temperature, and other environmental conditions of various regions. Although there are about a dozen cultivars constituting the most common varieties used for world strawberry production, it is very complicated to discover the exact number and names of actual cultivars of strawberry existing in the world. Strawberry cultivars are often grouped or classified based on environmental control or habit of flowering. There are three main types of cultivars: "short-day", "long-day" and "day-neutral", in reference to the sensitivity of the plant to day length, and the type of photoperiod which induces flower formation. In spite of the different classifications, any particular strawberry cultivar will differ greatly in its adaptation to regional and environmental conditions; a cultivar may grow satisfactorily in one area, and present resistance to several species of strawberry pathogens, but the same cultivar may not thrive in another region with different environmental conditions. A cultivar may be resistant to a particular pathogen in one region yet be very susceptible to it elsewhere because pathogens present different strains or pathotypes (Garrido *et al.* 2008, 2009b).

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations estimates that the annual world production of strawberry exceeds 3,800,000 tons. The fruit is produced in seventy-three countries all around the world, and the total area cultivated is approximately 215,000 ha (FAO 2007). The European Union is a major producer of strawberry (accounting for 47% of world output), grown on 165,000 ha. The United States produces approximately a 29% of world output) (JA 2004; FAO 2007). In the USA strawberry production is concentrated in three states, California, Florida and Oregon, in order of importance. The growers of California account for 80% of the U.S. strawberry production (FAO 2000; Martin et al. 2002). In Europe, Spain is the main producer country, with annual output of approximately 333,000 and 264,000 tons in 2006 and 2007, respectively. This production is concentrated in the provinces of Huelva and Cádiz, in southwest Spain, on the Atlantic coast and near the mouths of the Guadalquivir and Guadiana rivers, where weather conditions are particularly suitable for the intensive cultivation of this fruit. This area has more than 5,000 commercial horticultural operations dedicated to the cultivation of strawberry and other crops (JA 2004).

In line with the financial and economic importance represented by the cultivation and marketing of this crop, serious financial losses can be incurred due to health problems affecting the strawberry plant. These plants, like other commercial crops, can be damaged by environmental, genetic and biological factors, either directly or through interaction between these factors. Diseases produced by biological factors require a pathogen, a susceptible host, and environmental conditions that favour the growth of the pathogen. However, the cultivated strawberry plant presents considerable genetic differences between various clones and cultivars, and this implies differences in their reactions to many pathogens. The strawberry plant can be affected by arthropods, nematodes, and many types of fungus, bacteria and virus, among other pests. The group of phytopathogenic fungi that attack this crop is especially extensive in terms of the number of genera and species that can produce diseases, and hence in terms of the considerable financial losses, running into hundreds of millions of dollars/euros per year, that this agrarian sector may suffer (FAO 2000; JA 2004). More than 50 different genera can affect F. x ananassa cultivars, but not all of them have the same commercial importance. The genera Botrytis, Colletotrichum, Verticillium, and *Phytophthora* are included among the most significant. These pathogens are capable of infecting not only the strawberry crop but more than one hundred other crops cultivated around the world.

At the global level, there are several agencies working in cooperation with governments to control trade in this crop between countries. The United States has no federal certification program for strawberry plant production, but some states and countries, such as the United Kingdom, do have such programs (Maas 1998). The EPPO is an intergovernmental organization, with 50 member countries, responsible for cooperation in plant protection in Europe and the Mediterranean region (www.eppo.org). Since the 1970's, this organization has published and maintained two quarantine pest lists for this large region. The A1 list includes pests not present in the EPPO region, and the A2 list includes pests that are locally present in the region. In response to the lists and reports published by this organization, the member countries adopt various different phytosanitary measures and plant protection programs. Although in recent years several genera of strawberry fungal pathogens, such as Colletotrichum acutatum, Botrytis cinerea, Phytophthora spp. have been included in the EPPO A2 list (EPPO 2004), currently only *Phytophthora fragariae* (specific for strawberry), and Verticillium dahliae and Verticillium albo-atrum are in the updated A2 list (EPPO 2009). This limited listing means that the other genera or species of fungi are likely to be either currently absent or else only present in small pockets, scattered widely across the EPPO region. Therefore the main pest control efforts are likely to be focused on preventing Verticillium spp. from becoming definitively established in the EPPO region, while other action may be taken to identify the other pathogens, and to control and fight them where they may be found.

Currently, the detection and identification of pathogenic fungi have traditionally been performed using classical mycological methods involving isolation from host material, by plating plant parts, soil or soil extracts onto selective media, followed by morphological, biochemical, chemical and immunological analyses (Singleton et al. 1992; Lievens et al. 2005). However, these methods are often time-consuming, laborious, and require extensive knowledge of classical taxonomy. Furthermore, quantification, based on these culture-plating techniques, is considered relatively inaccurate and unreliable (McCartney et al. 2003; Lievens et al. 2005; Garrido et al. 2008). As has been reported by Garrido et al. (2008, 2009b), since 1991 several molecular methods for more accurate characterization and differentiation of phytopathogenic fungi have been developed and are being implemented widely. These methods include iso-enzyme comparisons, restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analyses of mitochondrial DNA, AT-rich analyses, random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), genus and species-specific polymerase chain reactions (PCR) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

When the pathogens are detected in the field, or to prevent their appearance between crop seasons, disease control has been carried out using chemical treatments. Since 1950's, Californian growers have produced "back-to-back" crops of strawberry on the same soil fumigated with MeBr and Pic (Martin et al. 2002), and the use of these chemical treatments has spread around the world since that date. Although such treatments are still widely used to control diseases caused by plant pathogens, the emergence of fungicide-resistant strains, de-registration of fungicides, and public concerns regarding the health and environmental impacts of agrochemicals may all act to limit their application in the future (Massart et al. 2007). Alternative approaches to disease control, such as the use of biological, cultural and physical methods, must be integrated to reduce the amount of fumigant used for soil and plant treatments. Biological control of fungal plant pathogens with microorganisms has been studied for more than 60 years (Howell et al. 2003). This form of biocontrol appears to be an attractive and realistic approach, and numerous microorganisms have been identified as potential biocontrol agents. Nevertheless, using microbiological, microscopic, and biochemical techniques over many years, researchers have tried to understand the mechanisms of action of fungal biocontrol agents without yet fully elucidating them.

The development of molecular techniques has yielded innovative alternative tools for understanding and demonstrating the mechanisms underlying the properties of biocontrol agents. To date, many studies have been published describing the use of molecular techniques for this purpose (Martin *et al.* 2002; Fernández-Acero *et al.* 2007; Massart *et al.* 2007). Proteomics studies for the description of biological, metabolic, physiological processes have been undergoing rapid development in the last few years. Advances in proteomic techniques have yielded extensive and definitive

 Table 1 Strawberry fungal pathogens causing leaf diseases.

Fungal pathogen	Phylum	Strawberry disease	Authors <sup>a</sup>
Alternaria alternata	Ascomycota	black leaf spot	Miyamoto et al. 2009
Cercospora fragariae	Ascomycota	cercospora leaf spots	Maas et al. 1998
Cercospora vexans	Ascomycota	cercospora leaf spots	Maas et al. 1998
Colletotrichum acutatum	Ascomycota	anthracnose leaf spot	Garrido et al. 2009
Colletotrichum gloeosporioides	Ascomycota	anthracnose leaf spot	Chung et al. 2010
Colletotrichum fragariae	Ascomycota	anthracnose leaf spot	Ortega-Morales et al. 2009
Diplocarpon earlianum	Ascomycota	leaf scorch	Whitaker et al. 2009
Gnomonia comari	Ascomycota	leaf blotch	Morocko et al. 2007
Macrophomina phaseolina	Ascomycota	macrophomina leaf blight	Maas et al. 1998
Mycosphaerella fragariae	Ascomycota	purple leaf spot	Ehsani-Moghaddam et al. 2006
Mycosphaerella louisianae	Ascomycota	purple leaf spot	Maas et al. 1998
Phoma lycopersici	Ascomycota	leaf stalk rot	Maas et al. 1998
Phomopsis obscurans	Ascomycota	phomopsis leaf blight	Nita et al. 2003
Rhizoctonia solani	Basidiomycota	rhizoctonia leaf blight	Chiba et al. 2009
Sclerotium rolfsii	Basidiomycota	sclerotium rot	Errakhi et al. 2009
Septoria fragariae	Ascomycota	septoria leaf spot	Maas et al. 1998
Septoria aciculosa	Ascomycota	septoria leaf spot	Maas et al. 1998
Septoria fragariaecola	Ascomycota	septoria leaf spot	Maas et al. 1998
Sphaerotheca macularis	Ascomycota	powdery mildew	Davik et al. 2005

<sup>a</sup> Recent and relevant publication working with the pathogen in the plant pathology field

biological information, describing the link between gene and phenotypical features, thus bridging the gap between genotype and phenotype. The application of these techniques to phytopathogenic fungi is helping us to understand the highly complex life cycle of fungal plant pathogens (Fernández-Acero *et al.* 2006, 2007a, 2007b).

In this review, we will consider the most recent advances in the study of these phytopathogenic fungi that cause diseases in strawberry crops. The continuous development of molecular methods, resulting from research projects carried out by laboratories and research centres on the world, is providing more and better knowledge about these pathogens, and is equipping the scientific community, official laboratories of governments and strawberry growers in many countries with more and better techniques and tools for fighting these harmful fungi.

#### MAIN STRAWBERRY FUNGAL DISEASES

The cultivation of *F. x ananassa* is now widely spread around the world, and progressively more countries are adopting cultivars of this genus due to the good commercial results obtained from this crop. Currently, numerous different cultivars of *F. x ananassa* exist, and this number is continually increasing, because researchers and growers are looking for the "*perfect strawberry plant*". This ideal plant should produce a large, fragrant, tasty red berry, with a high production yield per plant and per year; it should be well adapted to the particular environmental factors of particular regions, and of course, it must be resistant to all pathogens. To date, a strawberry plant with all these characteristics has not been developed. Among these requirements, one of the most difficult characteristics to obtain is general resistance to the main diseases.

The initiation and evolution of a disease in plants requires a susceptible host plant, a pathogen, and favourable environmental conditions (Maas 2004). Most of the fungal pathogen species affecting strawberry can be found in all the crop regions around the world, but the damage caused in the strawberry crop and the commercial losses suffered by the growers due to these species are of a different scale in each region. This is because several strawberry pathogens also exist as races or pathotypes which, although indistinguishable at the species level, differ genetically in their abilities to cause disease. The races are not evenly distributed around the world, and they are often found only in one specific strawberry crop region (Maas 2004).

Since 1978, the American Phytopathological Society (APS) has had a standing a committee charged with maintaining listings of plant pathogens and the diseases to which

they give rise. These lists are continually updated in the APS databases (www.apsnet.org/online/common/toc.asp). Pathogenic organisms are classified into bacteria, viruses, fungi and nematodes. In the case of strawberry, the list is alphabetically arranged by common names of plant diseases. The APS describes a total of 57 species of fungal pathogens. This list includes thirty nine species of ascomycota, seven of oomycetes, four of basidiomycota, and five basal fungal lineages (Tables 1-3). Sometimes, the name of a disease covers several species of pathogens: for example, anthracnose fruit rot can be caused by Colletotrichum acutatum, C. fragariae and C. gloeosporioides. In other cases, one particular disease can even be caused by more than one genus: for example, black leaf spot is caused by Alternaria alternata or by Colletotrichum gloeosporioides. When a pathogen is very damaging, or when several species of one genus produce similar symptoms, the disease takes the name of the pathogen genus; for example, phytophthora crown rot and root rot are caused by Phytophthora cactorum, P. citricola, P. citrophthora, P. megasperma or P. nicotinae.

Most of the species listed in the tables (**Tables 1-3**) are fungal pathogens that are not exclusive to strawberry. They can cause disease in many other crops; this is the case with *Botrytis cinerea*, *Phytophthora citricola* and *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides*. Hence, because these fungi can affect several different genera of commercially important plants, governments, researchers and growers take more interest in them. The greater the potential commercial losses, the more important it is to study them and acquire more knowledge about pathogenic cycles, diagnostic methods, control measures and practical means to combat them.

One of the most common ways to classify strawberry fugal pathogens is to arrange them by reference to the part of plant in which they produce the damage. In this section, we have compiled the information published by other authors in reports, articles and chapters of books, describing the main symptoms caused by the fungal diseases in leaves, fruits, crowns and roots.

#### Leaf diseases

The leaf of a plant is the principal site of the conversion of light energy to metabolic energy by photosynthesis. Thus, the number of leaves and the total leaf area of strawberry plants in the fall or autumn are directly correlated with fruit production. Individual strawberry leaves usually have a life of 1-3 months. The morphology of leaves varies between cultivar of strawberry, but a common characteristic is the large number of stomata that they have on the surface (Maas 1998). Leaf diseases commonly appear on straw-

Table 2 Strawberry fungal pathogens causing fruit diseases.

Fungal pathogen	Phylum	Strawberry disease	Authors <sup>a</sup>
Alternaria tenuissima	Ascomycota	alternaria fruit rot	Shafique et al. 2009
Aspergillus niger	Ascomycota	aspergillus fruit rot	Chiotta et al. 2009
Botrytis cinerea	Ascomycota	botrytis fruit rot; gray mold	Fernández-Acero et al. 2009
Cladosporium spp.	Ascomycota	cladosporium fruit rot	Ruiz-Moyano et al. 2009
Colletotrichum acutatum	Ascomycota	anthracnose fruit rot	Garrido et al. 2009
Colletotrichum gloeosporioides	Ascomycota	anthracnose fruit rot	Chung et al. 2010
Colletotrichum fragariae	Ascomycota	anthracnose fruit rot	Ortega-Morales et al. 2009
Gnomonia comari	Ascomycota	stem end rot	Morocko et al. 2007
Mucor hiemalis	Basal fungal lineages	mucor fruit rot	Hauke et al. 2004
Mucor mucedo	Basal fungal lineages	mucor fruit rot	Hauke et al. 2004
Mucor piriformis	Basal fungal lineages	mucor fruit rot	Hauke et al. 2004
Mycosphaerella fragariae	Ascomycota	black seed disease	Ehsani-Moghaddam et al. 2006
Pestalotia longisetula	Ascomycota	pestalotia fruit rot	Maas et al. 1998
Penicillium cyclopium	Ascomycota	penicillium fruit rot	Gutierrez et al. 2009
Penicillium expansum	Ascomycota	penicillium fruit rot	Liu et al. 2007
Penicillium frequentans	Ascomycota	penicillium fruit rot	Redondo et al. 2009
Penicillium purpurogenum	Ascomycota	fruit rot; fruit blotch	Redondo et al. 2009
Peronospora potentillae	Oomycete	downy mildew; fruit blotch	Choi et al. 2009
Phytophthora cactorum	Oomycete	leather rot	Nicastro et al. 2009
Phytophthora citrophthora	Oomycete	leather rot; phytophthora crown and root rot	Kong et al. 2009
Phytophthora nicotianae	Oomycete	leather rot; phytophthora crown and root rot	Böszörményi et al. 2009
Rhizoctonia fragariae	Basidiomycota	anther and pistil blight	Lamondia et al. 2005
Rhizopus solonifer	Basal fungal lineages	rhizopus rot	Maas et al. 1998
Rhizopus sexualis	Basal fungal lineages	rhizopus rot	Maas et al. 1998
Rhizoctonia solani	Basidiomycota	hard brown rot	Liu et al. 2009
Schizoparme straminea	Ascomycota	fruit blotch	
Sclerotinia sclerotiorum	Ascomycota	sclerotinia fruit rot	Ren et al. 2010
Stagonospora fragariae	Ascomycota	stagonospora hard rot	Maas et al. 1998
Sclerotium rolfsii	Basidiomycota	southern blight; fruit blotch	Errakhi <i>et al.</i> 2009
Septoria fragariae	Ascomycota	septoria hard rot and leaf spot	**
Sphaeropsis malorum	Ascomycota	fruit blotch	**
Sphaerotheca macularis	Ascomycota	powdery mildew	Davik et al. 2005

<sup>a</sup> Recent and relevant publication working with the pathogen in the plant pathology field.

Table 3 Strawberry fungal pathogens causing crown and root diseases.

Fungal pathogen	Phylum	Strawberry disease	Authors <sup>a</sup>
Armillaria mellea	Basidiomycota	armilla crown rot and root rot	Prodorutti et al. 2009
Colletotrichum acutatum	Ascomycota	anthracnose fruit rot, crown rot and black spot	Garrido et al. 2009
Colletotrichum gloeosporioides	Ascomycota	anthracnose fruit rot, crown rot and black leaf spot	Chung et al. 2010
Colletotrichum fragariae	Ascomycota	anthracnose fruit rot, crown rot and black spot	Ortega-Morales et al. 2009
Cylindrocarpon destructans	Ascomycota	root rot	Martin et al. 2002
Fusarium oxysporum	Ascomycota	fusarium wilt	Avis et al. 2009
Idriella lunata	Ascomycota	idriella root rot	Maas et al. 1998
Macrophomina phaseolina	Ascomycota	macrophomina root rot	Javaid et al. 2009
Phytophthora cactorum	Oomycete*	phytophthora crown and root rot	Nicastro et al. 2009
Phytophthora citricola	Oomycete*	phytophthora crown and root rot	Haesler et al. 2008
Phytophthora fragariae	Oomycete*	phytophthora crown and root rot	Nicastro et al. 2009
Pythium ultimum	Oomycete*	black root rot	Triky-Dotan et al. 2009
Rhizoctonia fragariae	Basidiomycota	black root rot	Lamondia et al. 2005
Rhizoctonia solani	Basidiomycota	hard brown rot	Liu et al. 2009
Sclerotinia sclerotiorum	Ascomycota	sclerotinia crown and fruit rot	Ren et al. 2010
Verticillium albo-atrum	Ascomycota	verticillium wilt	Larsen et al. 2007
Verticillium dahliae	Ascomycota	verticillium wilt	Costa <i>et al.</i> 2007

<sup>a</sup> Recent and relevant publication working with the pathogen in the plant pathology field.

berry plants. Stomata also are often sites of infection by pathogens that cause leaf diseases, although some fungi can penetrate the leaf cuticle directly. Although many species of fungi can occasionally cause damage on leaves, there are at least nineteen species that cause damage on susceptible cultivars if environmental conditions are conducive to their development (**Table 1**). When enough leaf tissue has been destroyed by disease, the plant is weakened and, in such cases, the plant is more subject to winter injury. Additionally, the pathogens that cause these diseases on leaves can infect berries, causing quality problems or even loss of fruits.

Taking into account the amount of commercial damage caused by disease in leaves and the worldwide spread of the corresponding pathogens, attention must be focussed on eight species of fungal pathogens from **Table 1**. These are, in alphabetical order, Alternaria alternata (alternaria black leaf spot); Colletotrichum acutatum, Colletotrichum gloeosporioides and Colletotrichum fragariae (anthracnose leaf spot and irregular leaf spot); Diplocarpon earlianum (leaf scorch); Mycospharella fragariae (leaf spot); Phomopsis obscurans (phomopsis leaf blight); Rhizoctonia solani (rhizoctonia leaf blight) and Sphaerotheca macularis (powdery mildew) (Fig. 1). These diseases occur on strawberry plants in all areas of the world where they are grown, from temperate climates to subtropical and tropical regions. The major effect of these pathogens is the progressive destruction of the foliage, which may weaken plants and reduce yields. Some pathogens cause very distinctive leaf symptoms; for example, Sphaerotecha macularis forms white patches of mycelium on the abaxial surface of the leaf. Other species, however, cause similar, even identical, symptoms, from cir-



Fig. 1 *Sphaerotheca macularis* causing powdery mildew in strawberry leaves cv. 'Camarosa'.



Fig. 2 Botrytis cinerea affecting strawberry fruit.



Fig. 3 Colletotrichum acutatum causing anthracnose in strawberry. (A) Fruit, (B) plant dead, (C) lesions inside the crown.

cular spots with grey centres and dark margins to irregular purplish red or brown areas with dark reddish purple margins. It is usual in the literature to find incorrect identifications and many citations confirm that symptoms are often confused between pathogens; for example, leaf scorch, caused by Diplocarpon earlianum is often confused with symptoms of leaf spot, caused by Mycosphaerella fragariae; and the symptoms produced by the latter are also wrongly identified as phomopsis leaf blight caused by Phomopsis obscurans (Maas 1998). Two anthracnose diseases affect strawberry leaves: anthracnose leaf spot, caused by Colletotrichum fragariae and C. gloeosporioides, and irregular leaf spot, caused by *C. acutatum*. These three species can be found in any part of the plant and produce similar symptoms, including circular lesions similar to those described above caused by other fungi (Garrido et al. 2009a). This confusion or incorrect observation is a serious matter because the correct identification of the disease, and therefore of the causal pathogen, is necessary before applying the correct control treatment, whether chemical products, biocontrol agents, or even changing to cultivars that are resistant to the pathogen identified.

Leaves of strawberry can be also attacked by other fungi than those discussed above, but their commercial importance is minor since they are limited to a few particular regions or countries and they occur only occasionally in strawberry. These other minor diseases of leaves include *Gnominia comari* (leaf blotch); *Mycophaerella louisianae* (purple leaf spot); *Septoria fragariae*, *S. aciculosa* and *S. fragariaecola* (septoria leaf spots); *Macrophomina phaseolina* (macrophomina leaf blight); *Cercospora fragariae* and *C. vexans* (cercospora leaf spots); *Sclerotium rolfsii* (sclerotium rot); and *Phoma lycopersici* (leaf stalk rot) (Maas 1998).

#### Fruit diseases

A number of diseases affect strawberry fruit. The fruit diseases are very important since they are the most direct and visible cause of commercial losses, not only while the plant is in the field but also during the storage and transport of the fruit to the market. Botrytis cinerea and Colletotrichum spp. are the pathogens responsible for the major strawberry fruit diseases around the world. They also cause the greatest losses of fruit; and they are responsible for the largest quantities of fungicides used in most nations for strawberry fruit production, and the consequent expenditure on these treatments (Maas 2004). The yearly cost of treatments to combat B. cinerea in all vulnerable crops, in all countries, has been estimated at up to €540 million, which constitutes about 10% of total world expenditure on fungicides; in Spain around €2 million are spent on fungicides for protecting strawberry crops (Fernández-Acero et al. 2007a)

Botrytis fruit rot, also called grey mould (caused by B. *cinerea*) appears in the fields before harvest, especially when the crop has remained persistently wet, but it chiefly develops in picked fruit. Losses can be severe (i.e. proportionately high) at harvest, during marketing and shipping, and after final sale. Lesions in green and white fruit develop slowly. The fruit becomes misshapen as it enlarges and may die before reaching maturity. The rot expands rapidly in the fruit as it nears maturity, often until the entire fruit is affected. A key diagnostic feature of botrytis fruit rot is the greyish mass of mycelium, conidiophores, and conidia of *B*. cinerea on the surface of rotted tissues (Fig. 2). Since the 1960's, recommendations for control of B. cinerea have emphasized applications of fungicides during blooming of flowers (Maas 2004). A degree of variation in susceptibility to botrytis rot exists among cultivars, but since genetic resistance to *B. cinerea* infection in strawberry is apparently a multigene characteristic and has a very low general combining ability, there has been little success in breeding and selecting cultivars resistant to this disease (Maas 2004).

Anthracnose of strawberry, especially anthracnose fruit rot, is a very destructive disease caused by the same three species of Colletotrichum described above for the anthracnose leaf spot, but the predominant species is C. acutatum (Fig. 3A). Infected flowers and buds may become dry and withered. Fruit infection can be devastating during periods of favourable temperature and the presence of moisture, either in the form of rain or high relative humidity. Circular, firm, sunken lesions that typically become black may develop on ripening fruit (Garrido et al. 2008). Control of anthracnose can be difficult since few available fungicides are effective against anthracnose of strawberry; once an epidemic of anthracnose fruit rot begins in a susceptible cultivar, it is nearly impossible to control (Maas 2004). In the literature, several strawberry cultivars have been reported to be resistant to at least one anthracnose disease, and an informative list has been published by Maas (2004).

Leather rot is the third disease in importance for strawberry fruit, especially considering that it can occur worldwide, from the USA to Europe and Asia. The losses of fruit may be considerable; fruit with leather rot has a distinctly unpleasant odour and taste that may be imparted to processed fruit products. *Phytophthora cactorum* is the causal pathogen of the disease but this species is more important because it also causes a serious crown rot. Control of leather rot requires a program that integrates various cultivation practices and the use of effective fungicides. Captan is the most effective fungicide available at present (Maas 2004).

There are other 12 genera of fungi that cause considerable losses on strawberry when they appear, but it happens only sporadically in widely separated areas. This group of fungi includes the next genera: Rhizoctonia fragariae (anther and pistil blight), Mycosphaerella fragariae (black seed disease) and Sclerotinia sclerotiorum (sclerotinia fruit rot) vary widely in severity and no specific control measures have been developed for them, although preplant soil treatment and cultivation practices, such as mulching and removal of plant debris, may help to minimize the incidence of these diseases. Gnominia comari (stem-end rot), Pestalotia longisetula (pestalotia fruit rot), Alternaria spp. (alternaria rot) and Cladosporium spp. (cladosporium rot), Aspergillus niger (aspergillus rot), and Stagonospora fragariae (stagonospora hard rot) are of less commercial importance. Lastly, there is one group of pathogens that are especially important because they cause postharvest losses to strawberry in storage. This group includes Rhizopus solonifer and R. sexualis (rhizopus rot); Mucor mucedo, M. piriformis and M. hiemalis (mucor fruit rot); Penicillium frequentans, P. cyclopium, P. expansum and P. purpugenum (penicillium fruit rot). The importance of these pathogens causing postharvest rot has been substantially reduced by modern storage and shipping methods (Maas 1998).

#### Crown and root diseases

Strawberry roots and crowns are attacked by several fungi. *Phytophthora fragariae*, *P. cactorum*, *Colletotrichum acu-tatum*, and *Verticillium*, for example, are species that cause specific and important diseases. Other diseases, such as black root rot, may be caused by one or more of several fungal pathogens, with or without the interaction of other factors, such as nematodes, bacteria, winter damage, poor drainage, depletion of soil oxygen, soil fertility imbalance, and drought stress.

In the case of strawberry roots, their growth is influenced not only by the external environment of soil and air but also by the amount of food reserves stored by the plant. Drainage is a key factor to maintaining strawberry rootlet health, including the removal of standing water on the surface, especially during winter, as well as provisions for the percolation of subsurface water through the soil. In cold parts of the world, winter injury to strawberry roots, caused by alternate freezing and thawing of the soil, favour root infection by *Fusarium* spp., *Cylindrocarpon destructans*, and many other fungi, and thus contributes to the incidence of root diseases. Strawberry roots, perhaps more than roots of other plants, are closely associated with numerous species of fungi and bacteria, many of which may be pathogenic under certain conditions.

The genus Colletotrichum, including the same three species previously described C. acutatum, C. gloeosporioides and C. fragariae, attacks the crowns and roots of strawberry causing serious anthracnose crown rot disease. Colletotrichum spp. causes red-brown discoloration and necrosis within the crown tissue (Garrido et al. 2008; Smith et al. 2008). Other symptoms of crown rot are the wilting of infected plants during periods of moisture stress, such as early afternoon in the summer. Under environmental conditions that favour infection, this process may continue for several days until the crown infection is extensive and causes the entire plant to wilt and die (Figs. 3B, 3C). Fungicidal control of anthracnose has not been satisfactorily achieved in most areas. Currently only a few resistant cultivars are available. Resistant cultivars to one anthracnose pathogen are usually resistant to the other two; however, races of the fungi can occur, and therefore a cultivar resistant in one locality may not be resistant in another. Cultivars resistant to petiole and crown infections are not necessarily resistant to fruit infection.

Another important pathogen, that is favoured by cool climates, which is the most widespread strawberry root pathogen, is the genus *Pythium* spp., especially the species *P. ultimum*. This species has been shown to be a major cause of black root rot disease. *Pythium* spp. is not only a strawberry pathogen; it can attack many other crops, both annual and perennial. In strawberry, *Pythium* spp. destroys juvenile root tissue, such as feeder rootlets. Control of *Pythium* spp. is effective with the application of chloropic-rin mixtures.

Phytophthora spp. is another important genus causing disease of crowns and roots. Crown or rhizome rot, whose causal pathogen is P. cactorum, has resulted in commercial losses in several European countries since about 1960. The disease, which is generally worse in warmer climates, has also been reported in the United States and other temperate to subtropical regions. The youngest leaves turn bluish green and often wilt suddenly; wilting quickly spreads to the entire plant, which collapses and dies, typically within a few days. Phytophthora citricola root rot, caused by P. citricola, usually develops in fields with a high incidence of dead plants, and is also caused by an unidentified species of Phytophthora. In California, P. citricola has been adequately controlled by preplant soil fumigation, applying mixtures of methyl bromide and chloropicrin. Red stele root, caused by Phytophthora fragariae, was first observed in Scotland and it is a major disease in areas with cool and moist climates. Plants with severe root rot are often stunted, and they may wilt in hot weather. The most characteristic root symptom is a reddish discoloration of the steles, which occurs when the soil is cool. Locally-adapted cultivars with resistance to several races of P. fragariae should be selected for planting, but none is known to be resistant to all races.

The pathogens, *Verticillium albo-atrum* and *V. dahliae* find a wide range of hosts among annual and perennial crops and weeds, and are capable of persisting for long periods in the soil. They cause verticillium wilt which occurs throughout the temperate zones of the world. The initial symptoms appear rapidly, when a sudden onset of high temperatures, high light intensity, or drought, interrupt mild conditions. Verticillium wilt tends to be most severe in plants that are already fruiting, and symptoms may continue throughout summer and autumn. Excellent long-range control of verticillium wilt has been obtained by preplant soil fumigation, with the application of mixtures of chloropicrin and methyl bromide, but new strategies of biocontrol will

be explained in later sections of this review.

Fusarium wilt and rhizoctonia root rot are two crown and root diseases that are favoured by high temperatures; when they appear severe damage, with losses as high as 50%, can result. *Fusarium oxysporum* produces distinct reddish brown discoloration on the crown, and the lower crown tissues may decay extensively as the disease advances. *Rhizoctonia solani* and *R. fragariae* kill structural roots as well as feeder rootlets of strawberries. Lesions on young roots are reddish brown at first, and darken with age. The infected crowns show internal brown discoloration of basal tissues and frequently collapse and die. Traditionally these diseases have been controlled by fumigating the soil prior to planting.

Crowns and roots of strawberry plants may be also attacked by other fungi, with less serious commercial consequences; these include *Idriella lunata* (idriella root rot); *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* (sclerotinia crown rot); *Armillaria mellea* (armillaria root and crown rot); *Dematophora necatrix* (dematophora root and crown rot) and *Macrophomina phaseolina* (macrophomina root rot) (Agrios 1998).

#### **BIOCONTROL OF DISEASES**

Currently, the control of strawberry pathogens is still based on the use of fungicides and other biocides. World-wide, the most prevalent strawberry disease management practice is the application of chemical treatments, in conjunction with other practices for managing plant health, including, for example, the reduction of over-crowding and over-watering of plants, the rapid removal of diseased plants and plant debris, the constant monitoring of plants to ensure healthy production stocks, and more recently the progressive use of biocontrol agents in the field (Maas 2004). Soil fumigation has been of paramount importance for strawberry fruit and nursery-plant production in recent decades, and has enabled growers to develop systems for very high-value annual crop production.

Historically, one of the primary reasons for soil fumigation was to reduce the incidence of destructive pathogens such as Verticillium dahliae and several species of Phytophthora spp. (Martin et al. 2002). MeBr and chloropicrin, individually or in mixtures, are the classic chemical products used most widely as preplant treatments and for soil fumigation, to control a broad range of pathogens around the world. Preplant MeBr fumigation was first used to control verticillium wilt in California in 1956. Apart from being very effective for pathogen control, this compound has been demonstrated to increase growth and yield responses in strawberry crops when planted in soil that had first been fumigated with MeBr. The benefits include increased growth response (especially of the root system), reduction in N fertilizer requirements (by approximately 50% in some cases), improved nutrient uptake, and control of weed species (Wilhelm et al. 1980).

Although there are many advantages in using chemical products to control crop pathogens – mainly their proven effectiveness and other positive benefits for the crops - they nevertheless have very serious negative effects for the environment, and their use can cause fungicide-resistant strains of pathogens to evolve. The use of MeBr, for example, is currently regulated by United Nations under the Montreal protocol on substances that deplete the ozone layer (Montreal protocol) and the clean air act (CAA). The protocol calls for a 50% reduction per year of methyl bromide sold to users, although some exemptions from the phase-out date are allowed, including: i) the quarantine and preshipment (QPS) exemption, to eliminate quarantine pests; and ii) the critical use exemption (CUE), designed for agricultural users for whom no technically or economically feasible alternatives are available. Strawberry nurseries and strawberry fruit production are included in the list of critical uses of methyl bromide; therefore strawberry growers have been given additional and valuable time to adapt their control practices before the phase-out date for methyl bromide. The international community is increasingly committed to finding alternative disease control methods, including biological, cultural or other chemical measures, to integrate into their general crop production systems.

The biocontrol of fungal plant pathogens with microorganisms has been studied for more than 70 years (Massart et al. 2007). Today, biocontrol is becoming a feasible alternative but, although much knowledge has been accumulated from studies conducted in recent years, there is still a long way to go before a realistic and effective alternative to the use of chemical products is available. One of the first problems that the scientific community found was that, because MeBr and other biocides had been widely used for more than 50 years, little was known about the pathogens that need to be controlled, in their own environmental niches; understanding the ecology of these pathogens and how biocontrol agents exert their protective effects are prerequisites in managing these diseases and for the effective practical application of biocontrol agents (Martin et al. 2002). Microbiological, microscopic, biochemical studies and, more recently, advanced molecular techniques have all contributed to existing knowledge on the antagonistic mechanisms of biocontrol agents (Massart et al. 2007).

Microorganisms introduced to control disease must interact with the crop plants, with potential pathogens, with environmental variables, and with indigenous organisms under prevailing microclimate conditions (Sutton et al. 1994). In strawberry, most attention has been focussed on rhizosphere ecology, in which numerous populations of bacteria, yeasts and fungi have been identified and isolated for their ability to antagonize plant pathogens. The rhizosphere is the soil surrounding the root, the micro-environment where intense microbial activity and more numerous microbial populations occur, and is the site for interactions between plants, pathogenic microorganisms, antagonistic rhizobacteria and fungi (Berg et al. 2000). The biocontrol agent is assumed to be a natural colonizer of strawberry fruit, leaves, and roots, and to be either non-pathogenic or only weakly so, or else saprophytic, and to be capable of interacting successfully with the plant, microbiological and other environmental conditions, and cultivation systems (Maas 2004). From consulting the literature on strawberry diseases, two main groups of microorganisms, between others, can be found that previously have been studied as biocontrol agents against strawberry fungal pathogens: i) rhizobacteria, with the *Pseudomonas* and *Streptomyces* species being the main members of this group; and ii) the genus Trichoderma, which is the most studied and effective fungal biocontrol agent identified to date (Berg et al. 2000; Woo et al. 2006).

Rhizobacteria antagonism toward plant pathogenic fungi may result from various mechanisms, based mainly on competition for space and nutrients, mycoparasitism or antibiosis, or the elicitation of plant defences. The physiological and molecular characterization of potential rhizobacterial antagonisms is important in order to select the isolates for detailed study as candidate biological control agents. Berg et al. (2000) developed a screening strategy to investigate rhizobacterial populations isolated from strawberry species and to determine their antagonistic activity against Verticillium dahliae, V. albo-atrum, Fusarium culmorum, Rhizoctonia solani, Pythium ultimum, and Phytophthora cactorum. Twenty rhizobacterial isolates, out of more than three hundred, were isolated from strawberry cultivars because they presented a powerful antifungal activity. The species included Pseudomonas fluorescens and P. chlororphis, Streptomyces albidoflavus, S. rimosus, S. diastatochromogenes, and S. exfoliates. After in vitro assays, the authors concluded that all isolates inhibited the growth of V. dahliae and four isolates of Streptomyces species were active against all of the fungi tested. The rhizobacteria tested produced antibiotics and presented siderophore activity. Streptomyces isolates also presented chitinase activity, whereas none of the Pseudomonas did.

Berg et al. (2000) also studied the antagonistic activity

of these isolates against verticillium wilt in greenhouse and fields. The results showed that, in the greenhouse and in fields naturally infected by Verticillium, bacterial treatment resulted in the efficient suppression of the pathogen. Additionally, the authors observed an indirect effect on the yield, a phenomenon that often occurs with some antagonistic microorganisms through their activity in rhizosphere ecology. It was found that Pseudomonas treatment enhanced the yield of strawberry fruits by as much as 344% (Berg *et al.* 2004). The explanation of this effect lies in the interactions that take place between the host and the microorganisms; this association provides the plant with the nutrients and environmental conditions for enhanced development of its root systems. This effect will also be considered later in this section with respect to the fungus Trichoderma spp. Berg et al. (2000) obtained encouraging results because they isolated several good candidates for combating seven important species of strawberry fungal pathogens. In addition, it was possible to patent three biocontrol agents (one P. fluorescens isolate and two Streptomyces diastatochromogenes isolates). In recent years, studies of rhizobacteria populations and their antagonistic potential have been focussed on the molecular aspects of the community. With the advances made in molecular biology techniques, much more is now understood about the molecular mechanisms and genes involved in this antagonistic activity. Costa et al. (2007) studied the presence of Pseudomonas spp. communities in the rhizosphere using a novel PCR-DGGE system developed to characterize gacA types within a collection of Pseudomonas isolates antagonistic to V. dahliae. The gene gacA is required for the production of many secondary metabolites and exoenzymes in *Pseudomonas* spp. (Heeb et al. 2001). The study carried out by Costa et al. (2007) suggests that this family of genes, in conjunction with the PCR-DGGE system, might be a suitable strategy for the simultaneous analysis of Pseudomonas community structure and function in soil studies.

Other groups of antagonistic microorganisms that are important for biocontrol of strawberry fungal pathogens are several genera of filamentous fungi. The first of such microorganisms to be considered here is *Glicocladium roseum*. This ascomycete has been shown to be effective in reducing the incidence in fruit of grey mould caused by *Botrytis cinerea*. It has been proved that *Glicocladium roseum* acts by reducing the inocula from infected leaves and protecting the flower parts from attack by *B. cinerea* (Maas 2004). In one curious case it was found that non-pathogenic isolates of *Fusarium oxysporum* can be used to control fusarium wilt in a field test when plants were inoculated with the non-pathogenic isolates prior to planting (Okayama 1991; Tezuka *et al.* 1991).

Although we have already presented some attractive and interesting results of biocontrol agents, the genus Trichoderma is the most studied and most effective fungal biocontrol agent found to date. Fungal species belonging to this genus occur all around the world and are easily isolated from soil, decaying wood and other forms of plant organic matter (Howell 2003). Since the 1930s, it has been known that fungi of the Trichoderma species have the potential to act as biocontrol agents of plant diseases. Trichoderma spp. have developed an astonishing ability to interact, both parasitically and symbiotically, with different substrates and living organisms, including plants and other microbes (Woo et al. 2006). Over the past several decades, the literature has contained many publications reporting the results obtained with these fungi as biocontrol agents, but even today we do not have a complete understanding of the complex mechanisms that the fungi use to carry out their antagonistic activity. In two reviews Howell (2003) and Woo et al. (2006) tried to summarize the main features of the molecular boilogy of the interactions between Trichoderma spp., plants and phytopathogenic fungi, and the main aspects of this research area and the conclusions that can be drawn will be discussed next.

Trichoderma spp. can utilize a variety of nutrient sour-

ces; the fungi are among the most resistant microorganisms to natural and man-made chemicals and toxins; and they are capable of effectively degrading some of them, including hydrocarbons, chlorophenolic compounds, polysaccharides and xenobiotic pesticides (Harman et al. 2004). It is important to understand the mechanisms employed by Trichoderma spp. to act in the biological control of plant diseases. Advances in molecular biology have permitted the genetic modification of these fungi in a very precise manner, and this has led to the improvement of their ability to secrete desired enzymes, to kill plant pathogens, and to stimulate plant growth and resistance to diseases. Intensive research into biocontrol using T. harzianum has been carried out under commercial conditions, and there have been some significant achievements in greenhouse crops and in vineyards (Freeman et al. 2003). Trichoderma spp. are now widely used in agriculture and industry; the first biocontrol agent to be commercialized, registered and used was isolate T-39 of T. harzianum (TRICHODEX), which is effective for the control of B. cinerea, S. sclerotiorum, C. fluvum and C. acutatum. Today, more than fifty different Trichodermabased agricultural products have been registered in the world, and are sold and applied to protect and improve yields of vegetables, ornamental plants and fruit trees (Woo et al. 2006).

During the last few decades, the scientific community has been learning more and more about the mechanisms involved in the biocontrol activities of *Trichoderma* spp. This fungus is very versatile in adapting many different environmental situations and has a large arsenal of molecular weapons to use against the particular microbe that they are confronting. One of the most salient characteristics of the genus *Trichoderma* is its ability to parasitize other fungi. What has been called the "mycoparasitism" of Rhizoctonia solani hyphae by the hyphae of this biocontrol agent has been described, and its actions include coiling around the hyphae of the pathogen, penetrating and subsequently dissolving the cytoplasm of the host (Howell 2003). The fungus also excretes several kinds of "toxins" which are toxic for R. solani, Sclerotinia americana, and even strongly inhibitory for Pythium ultimum and Phytophthora species; two of the most important toxins excreted by Trichoderma virens are gliotoxin and gliovirin (Howell 2003). In subsequent studies, a mutant of T. virens deficient for both mycoparasitism and toxins biosynthesis still retained biocontrol efficacy; these results indicate that neither mycoparasitism nor toxins are essential for biocontrol of these pathogens (Liu et al. 2009).

Competition through rhizosphere competence is another control mechanism that has been proposed because Trichoderma grows rapidly and easily colonizes the root systems of plants. Rhizosphere competence is important because biocontrol agents can work by competing successfully for space and nutrients. However one problem for this theory is that some species of Trichoderma (excellent roots colonizers) exhibit little or no biocontrol activity against R. solani in cotton seedlings (Howell 2003). In addition, this genus is characterized by its capacity to secrete a large number of compounds, and even to generate complex interactions between plants and pathogens; therefore a control mechanism based on physical competition does not seem to be very likely or feasible. During its interactions with host plants Trichoderma spp. exhibits other characteristics that may contribute to disease resistance or tolerance by the plants. This mechanism is similar to that employed by Pseudomonas spp., explained above, in that it induces plant root and shoot growth, resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, and improvements in the nutritional status of the plant. Harman et al. (2000) showed that, after treatment of seed with T. harzianum (T-22), corn planted in low nitrogen soil produced plants that were greener and larger in the early part of the growing season. Harman et al. (2000) reported a strong interaction between T-22 and the nitrogen-fixing bacterium Bradyrhizobium japonicum. Theoretically, the combination of a nitrogen-fixing bacterium and a fungus

that enables the plant to utilize nitrogen more efficiently is directly related to a general beneficial growth effect on the root system, which thereby gives the plant more resistance against pathogens (Harman *et al.* 2000).

Research data accumulated in the past few years have led to a completely novel understanding of the ways in which these fungi interact not only with other microbes but also with plants and soil components (Woo *et al.* 2006). The production of enzymes and the induction of defence responses in plants by *Trichoderma* spp. have been discussed. The use of relatively novel tools to investigate these complex processes, in particular proteomic analysis, has demonstrated that a molecular "cross-talk" or intercommunication is established between *Trichoderma* spp., the plants and the pathogens.

# **DIAGNOSIS AND MONITORING OF DISEASES**

The ability to detect, identify and quantify plant pathogens accurately is the cornerstone of plant pathology. The reliable identification of the organism(s) responsible for a crop disease is an essential prerequisite to the implementation of disease management strategies. Therefore, in the diagnosis of strawberry fungal infections, it is essential to devise and carry out a correct preventive disease management program. Because many fungal pathogens of strawberry (e.g. Diplocarpon earlianum, Mycosphaerella fragariae and Phomopsis obscurans) produce similar symptoms, as described in the preceding section, it is important to be able to distinguish between different species. Decisions must be made, for example, on the extent to which the disease is likely to damage the crop, and what are the most appropriate control measures to take. Fungus identification needs to take into account not only those pathogens included in the current EPPO quarantine lists and discussed in this review (e.g. Colletotrichum acutatum and Verticillium dahliae), but also those that appear only on previous lists. Many pathogens are subjected to special regulation through quarantine programs agreed among producer countries. For all these reasons, accurate and rapid methods of detection and identification are essential (Debode et al. 2009; Garrido et al. 2009b). More generally, pathogen identification is crucial to all aspects of fungal diagnostics and epidemiology in the field of plant pathology, medical science, environmental studies and biological control (McCartney et al. 2003; Atkins et al. 2004).

Classic methods have been used for many years in the detection and identification of pathogenic fungi, including interpreting visual symptoms of the plant or the morphological characteristics of fungal structures after growing in several media. Biochemical, chemical and immunological analyses have also been used until recently. These traditional methods can contribute a great deal of information increasing the biological knowledge of the fungal species, but they have many disadvantages related with the accuracy and reliability. They are often time-consuming and laborious methods and the organism itself must be capable of being cultured. This is a significant handicap because less than 1% of the microorganisms present in an environmental sample can be cultured (Lievens et al. 2005). Such analyses also require experienced and skilled laboratory staffs, which needs to have extensive knowledge of taxonomy (McCartney et al. 2003).

Since the 1990s, new methods based on molecular biology have provided new tools for more accurate and reliable detection, identification and quantification of plant pathogens. These methods are based on immunological and DNA/ RNA study strategies, including, amongst others: RFLP analyses of mitochondrial DNA (Sreenivasaprasad *et al.* 1992; Garrido *et al.* 2008), AFLP, AT-rich analyses (Freeman *et al.* 2000), RAPD-DNA (Whitelaw-Weckert *et al.* 2007), genus-specific and species-specific PCR primers (Mills *et al.* 1992; Sreenivasaprasad *et al.* 1996; Martinez-Culebras *et al.* 2003; Garrido *et al.* 2008), real-time PCR studies (Garrido *et al.* 2009b), and ELISA assays (Hughes et al. 1997). These methods are faster and can be used by personnel with little experience in plant pathology (McCartney et al. 2003). Additionally, non-cultivable microorganisms can also be detected and quantified, samples can be tested directly, and isolates do not require culturing because minute quantities of fungal DNA can be detected from environmental samples, even before symptoms occur. Diagnosis time can be reduced from a period of weeks, typically experienced with culture plating, to only a few days, thus allowing the appropriate control methods to implemented much sooner and more effectively (Atkins et al. 2004; Lievens et al. 2005). These methods can show also some disadvantages because non-viable or dead propagules are also detected, but this can lead only to overestimate the possibilities of risk in a very low percentage. In comparison with the advantages that these methods provide, they are a potential alternative to conventional diagnostic methods (Garrido et al. 2009b).

Advances in polymerase chain reaction technology have opened alternative approaches to the detection and identification of strawberry fungal pathogens. The development of PCR technology relies on three fundamental steps: i) the selection of a specific target region of DNA/RNA to identify the fungus; ii) extraction of total community DNA/ RNA from the environmental sample; iii) a method for identifying the presence of the target DNA/RNA region in the sample (Atkins et al. 2004). In recent years, many research studies have been published reporting improvements to each of the three fundamental steps described above, and working on some of the most serious fungal pathogens of strawberry, such as Botrytis cinerea (Suárez et al. 2005), Colletotrichum acutatum (Debode et al. 2009; Garrido et al. 2009b), Colletotrichum gloeosporioides, Colletotrichum spp. (Garrido et al. 2009b), Fusarium oxysporum (Lievens et al. 2003), Verticillium albo-atrum (Larsen et al. 2007), and Verticillium dahliae (Atallah et al. 2007). We will next describe the main results obtained in the study of these pathogens.

There are two main ways to select the target DNA: i) using specific sequence information available in databases; and ii) cloning and sequencing arbitrary parts of the fungal genome (Atkins et al. 2004). The most commonly-used DNA region targeted to design primers for PCR-based identification and detection of fungal plant pathogens are the ribosomal RNA genes, because of the highly variable sequences of the internal transcribed spacers ITS1 and ITS2, which separate the 18S/5,8S and 5,8S/28S ribosomal RNA genes, respectively (Garrido et al. 2009b). These regions have been used by Debode et al. (2009) and Garrido et al. (2009b) to develop protocols of identification for the genus *Colletotrichum*, and to distinguish between the three species causing anthracnose in strawberry: Colletotrichum acutatum, C. gloeosporioides and C. fragariae. Another highly variable region of the ribosomal RNA genes is the IGS region which separates the 28S/18S genes. This region has been less used than ITSs, but Suárez et al. (2005) used it successfully to design primers in the polymorphic regions for the specific identification of *B. cinerea*. Although the ITS and IGS regions are the main targets, other genes are becoming more widely studied, in particular the  $\beta$ -tubulin gene (Atkins et al. 2004). Sequences of the  $\beta$ -tubulin gene were also analyzed by Suárez et al. (2005), Atallah et al. (2007) and Debode et al. (2009).

In some cases, where the data obtained using specific sequences from databases are inadequate because a specific primer cannot be designed, screening arbitrary regions of the genome is often the next step. This strategy consists of an initial screening of random amplified polymorphism DNA (RAPD), and subsequent analyses of the products with the object of developing a SCAR marker. This protocol was used by Larsen *et al.* (2007) to develop SCAR markers for quantifying *Verticillium albo-atrum* DNA. Rigotti *et al.* (2002), studying *B. cinerea* isolates, identified SCAR markers for the specific identification of this pathogen in *Fragaria x ananassa.* Three years later, Suárez *et al.* (2005)

compared their primers designed in the IGS regions and proved that this new assay was more sensitive than all the previous assays for *B. cinerea*.

The sensitivity of PCR-based protocols depends mainly on the instrumentation and technique used (i.e. conventional PCR vs. real-time PCR), but in a high proportion of cases this sensitivity depends on the quality of the total community DNA/RNA extracted from the environmental samples. There are many methods that can be used to extract DNA directly from fungal colonies removed from an agar plate. When working with environmental samples (mainly with plant material), a very common problem encountered is that chemical products are extracted in conjunction with total DNA, and these act as PCR-inhibitors; as a result, the sensitivity of the method decreases and can even lead to false negative results. One strategy for solving the problem is to dilute the samples, but in that case, the quantity of the target DNA and the sensitivity of detection are also reduced. A range of different commercial kits are available for extraction of fungal DNA from environmental samples such as plant tissue or soil, supplied by several companies (Dynal's DNA direct, the Soil DNA isolation kit from Mo Bio Laboratories, Inc., and the Qiagen DNeasy range are examples). These kits are characterized by their simplicity of use; however they can represent a high cost per sample analysed and are not always totally reliable in not coextracting PCR inhibitors. Garrido et al. (2009b) optimized a DNA extraction protocol that can be used for samples of strawberry plant material, directly, or from fungal colonies removed from an agar plate. This method uses sample material physically ground using a grinding machine, in the presence of CTAB lysis buffer. The lysated samples are washed in various chemical products (chloroform, isopropanol, ethanol, etc.) and then the final step involves using Magnesil<sup>®</sup> beads and GITC lysis buffer (guanidinium thiocyanate buffer) in a Kingfisher robotic processor (Kingfisher ML, Thermo Scientific). Garrido et al. (2009b) demonstrated that this method is very reliable for extracting DNA from any strawberry plant material. It was tested with roots, crowns, petioles, leaves and fruits and the extraction methods always showed very high yields of DNA in both quantity and quality. PCR-inhibitors were not co-extracted from any samples, and therefore, a dilution step is not necessary prior to using the sample with a PCR test. The sensitivity of the entire detection protocol is thus improved, using this protocol.

The third difficulty that an effective detection protocol must overcome is the detection stage. Conventional PCR has been a fundamental part of fungal molecular diagnostics, but due to its limitations: gel-based methods, possibility of quantification, sensitivity, etc. The development of realtime PCR has been a valuable response to these limitations; it is more sensitive, more accurate and less time-consuming than conventional end-point quantitative PCR (Lievens et al. 2005). A specific target organism is both detected and quantified by measuring the intensity of amplification-specific fluorescence generated during each cycle in a closed tube format using an integrated cycler/fluorimeter. Real-time PCR can be performed using different chemistries, such as TaqMan<sup>®</sup>, SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green I dye, or a new approach, developed by Invitrogen, called LUX. The TaqMan<sup>®</sup> system consists of a fluorogenic probe specific to the DNA target, which anneals to the target between the PCR primers; The TaqMan<sup>®</sup> system tends to be the most sensitive of the methods but the new approach, LUX, is achieving the same level of sensitivity while further simplifying the techniques, as well as reducing the cost. This new system uses two primers, one of which has a hairpin loop structure with a fluorophore (Suárez et al. 2005). Although this method is replacing TaqMan® probes in real-time PCR technology, with the object of providing cheaper, reliable methods with the specificity of TaqMan<sup>®</sup> probes without some of the constraints, to date TaqMan<sup>®</sup> technology is continuing to be used in the majority of research projects working with strawberry fungal pathogens.

The level of specificity and sensitivity of real-time PCR-based methods with some of the main strawberry fungal pathogens reported in several publications vouch for the results offered by this technology. Suárez et al. (2005) designed three TaqMan<sup>®</sup> probe/primers sets based on the ribosomal IGS spacer, the  $\beta$ -tubulin gene, and the SCAR marker of B. cinerea published by Rigotti et al. (2002). The specificity of the assays was tested by investigating crossreactivity with several species of Botrytis very closely related to *B. cinerea* (i.e. *B. fabae*, *B. elliptica*, *B. tulipae* and *B.* narcissicola). The assays described were specific for B. *cinerea* even when they were tested with DNA from other genera of fungal pathogens, in particular S. sclerotiorum, which is closely related to the Botrytis genus. When the sensitivity of the assays was investigated, the IGS assay proved to be more sensitive than all the other assays, with a limit of detection of approximately 0.2 pg of fungal DNA. Detection and quantification of B. cinerea was also tested using Pelargonium sp. leaf discs inoculated with a range of spores from *B. cinerea*  $(10^1 - 10^4)$ . All the assays, apart from that based on  $\beta$ -tubulin, were shown to be sensitive for the total quantity of spores.

In 2007, Larsen et al. proposed a new assay for quantifying Verticillium albo-atrum DNA from plant samples. This is currently one of the quarantine pathogens of strawberry. They designed a TaqMan<sup>®</sup> set of probe/primers located inside the sequence of a SCAR product produced by RAPD primer Op87. Using that real-time PCR assay, DNA of V. albo-atrum could be detected in linear assay within a range of DNA quantities from 0.001 to 50 ng, and the assay did not amplify DNA from other pathogens evaluated by the authors, thus showing it to be highly specific for V. alboatrum. Atallah et al. (2007) published also in this year other study to detect and quantify Verticillium dahlia using Q-PCR. The study was designed using the  $\beta$ -tubulin gene and achieving efficiency greater than 95%, and sensitivity as few as 148 fg of *V. dahliae* DNA, which is equivalent to five nuclei. QPCR detected V. dahliae in naturally infected potato stems and fresh stems of inoculated plants (Atallah et al. 2007).

In 2009, Garrido et al. published sets of new protocols for the detection of Colletotrichum spp., C. acutatum and C. gloeosporioides, and for monitoring strawberry anthracnose using real-time PCR. Several months later, Debode et al. (2009) proposed an additional set of probe/primers for Col*letotrichum acutatum* in strawberry. Both groups of authors used mainly the ITS regions to design the sets of probe/ primers. Garrido et al. (2009b) tested the specificity of all assays using DNA from isolates of six species of Colletotrichum and from DNA of another nine fungal species commonly found associated with strawberry material. Additionally, they checked that samples did not contain PCR inhibitors co-extracted during the DNA extractions using one universal pair of primers for the 5,8S ribosomal gene by PCR SYBR<sup>®</sup>Green amplifications. All the new assays were highly specific for Colletotrichum spp., C. acutatum and C. gloeosporioides, no cross-reactions were observed with either related plant pathogens or healthy strawberry plant material. The sensitivity of the new real-time PCR assays was compared with that of previously published conventional PCR assays; they were confirmed to be 100 times more sensitive than the latter. The C. acutatum-specific real-time PCR assay was also compared with an existing ELISA assay for the diagnosis of this pathogen. Real-time PCR permitted the detection of the pathogen in samples that gave negative results for C. acutatum using ELISA. The real-time PCR assay detected the equivalent of 7.2 conidia per plant inoculated with a serial dilution of C. acutatum spores, demonstrating the high degree of sensitivity of the method (Garrido et al. 2009b).

Although we have shown the advantages and promising results achieved with these real-time PCR assays, there are other assay formats that have not yet been applied to plant pathogens, such as multiplex PCR, which enables the simultaneous detection and quantification of different pathogens in one single reaction. The total number of PCR reactions that it is possible to detect in a single tube is severely limited by the number of different fluorescent dyes available, and the common use of a monochromatic energizing light source in the most common real-time PCR instruments (Lievens *et al.* 2003, 2005). To overcome these limitations, another technology based on DNA arrays is becoming available: this technology may lead to unlimited multiplexing, that is, the detection and identification of numerous plant pathogens per assay. DNA arrays were originally developed as a technique for screening for human genetic disorders in the 1990's but recently several authors have shown the utility of DNA arrays for multiplex detection and identification of plant pathogens from complex environmental samples (Lievens *et al.* 2003).

This technology combines nucleic acid amplification with the unlimited screening capability of DNA arrays, resulting in high degrees of sensitivity, specificity and throughput capacity. With this technology, oligonucleotide detectors are covalently bound to a solid support, such as a nylon membrane. The target DNA segment to be tested is simultaneously amplified and labelled, and subsequently hybridized to the membrane under stringent conditions. Lieven et al. (2005) developed a DNA array for the specific detection and identification within twenty four hours of the strawberry fungal pathogen Fusarium oxysporium and the quarantine pathogens Verticillium albo-atrum and Verticillium dahliae. This assay detects at the species level, based on the fungal ITS region, from several different sample matrices, including plant material, soils and soil extracts. This assay has proved to be highly sensitive, detecting 2.5 pg of DNA for V. dahliae, 0.35 pg DNA for V. albo-atrum, and 0.5 pg DNA for F. oxysporium. DNA arrays may be used for the detection and identification of microorganisms that are important for agricultural and horticultural practice; however a major limitation of the current technology is the reliable quantification of pathogen presence. Further investigations carried out by Lieven et al. (2005) demonstrated that a DNA macro-array could be used for accurate pathogen quantification, at concentration ranges typically encountered in horticultural practice. They developed an ini-tial approach including several controls. The hybridization results can be standardized and accurately quantified, enabling pathogen biomass to be quantitatively estimated. This DNA array for diagnostic purposes in plant pathology requires PCR amplification; therefore the sensitivity of the results depends to a large degree on how this step is performed. Lievens et al. (2005) demonstrated that the detection limit is determined by the total population of microorganisms whose DNA is amplified by the same primer pair that amplifies the DNA of the target organisms. The lowest amount of fungal target DNA detected by the authors was 0.25 pg, but it could not be detected when the amount of non-target fungal DNA exceeded the target DNA by more than 1000 times.

In conclusion, DNA array technology has proved to be another practical alternative for the detection and identification of an unlimited number of microorganisms in a single assay. This array-based detection procedure for plant pathogens has been proved to be relatively cost-effective, and may lead to a comprehensive pathogen assessment method for detecting and quantifying all known pathogens (including fungi, bacteria, and nematodes, as well as viruses); it could also be used for the description of microbial communities in soil.

#### PROTEOMICS APPROACHES AS A TOOL TO STUDY STRAWBERRY FUNGAL PATHOGENS

Proteomics studies for the description of biological, metabolic, physiological and pathological processes have made considerable progress in recent years. Advances in proteomic techniques have been useful for obtaining extensive and decisive biological information about the life cycles of many organisms. Given the achievements made using these techniques in several fields, including plant pathology, some authors have started to describe the current period as the "post-genomic era" (Fernández-Acero *et al.* 2007a). Until recently, few advances had been made regarding the proteome of phytopathogenic and non-phytopathogenic fungi. However in the last few years, dozens of teams have focussed their research activities on the proteomic analysis of these filamentous fungi, and they are making significant advances in the knowledge of the biology, mechanisms of infection, and even the antagonistic activity of some important fungi, including *B. cinerea* (Fernández-Acero *et al.* 2006a, 2009a, 2009b) and *Trichoderma* spp. (Grinyer *et al.* 2004, 2005; Woo *et al.* 2006).

The increasing interest of the scientific community in proteomic analysis has been due to improvements in the proteomics technologies available, such as protein separation by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE), and peptide analysis by mass spectrometry (MS), becoming a powerful strategy for gaining a better understanding of the complex molecular cross-talk that is known to take place between filamentous fungi and their environments, including other populations of microorganisms and plant hosts (Fernández-Acero et al. 2006b, 2007b). Proteomic analyses of filamentous fungi, both pathogenic and non-pathogenic, have raised serious limitations or handicaps. One of these limitations is the need to have an effective protein extraction method for obtaining a good resolution in the 2-DE gels, because various contaminants such as nucleic acids, salts, lipids, pigments, cell wall polysaccharides, etc., can be dragged along with the protein during the extraction process (Fernández-Acero et al. 2007a).

Another major handicap is the protein identification. Protein spots are often identified by MALDI-TOF using PMF. This technique compares the fragmentation masses obtained by MALDI with existing masses in the databases, but the information in those databases about the masses of filamentous fungi is not yet sufficient for successful identification. Fernández-Acero *et al.* (2007) deal with this handicap by identifying the protein using PMF followed by "*de novo*" peptide sequencing and sequence alignment. For more information regarding the experimental design of proteomic studies, protocols for obtaining fungal proteomic extracts, the identification of protein spots, and applications of proteomic advances to phytopathogenic fungi, reference to the specific review by Fernández-Acero *et al.* (2007a) is strongly recommended.

Considering again the biocontrol agents Trichoderma spp., during the last few years many authors have developed various approaches based on 2-DE studies and considerable advance have been made in understanding the mechanisms by which Trichoderma spp. is capable of controlling the diseases produced by other phytopathogenic fungi. Summarized below are some of the main achievements obtained with Trichoderma spp. In addition to the biocontrol mechanisms of this genus explained in the preceding section, it has also been demonstrated that Trichoderma spp. provides an abundance of biotechnologically-valuable proteins and secondary metabolites. Grinyer et al. (2004) reported the first data on the proteome of T. harzianum and T. atroviride grown on liquid substrates enriched with various different carbon sources, including pathogen cell walls. Subsequently, Woo et al. (2006) developed a method for separating the proteome of T. harzianum and T. atroviride from that of bean or tomato while being cultivated together under controlled conditions. They identified a large number of proteins involved in disease resistance processes during colonization of these plants by Trichoderma spp. The authors concluded that several resistance genes used for the recognition of microbial metabolites are up-regulated or activated by the presence of the beneficial fungus and probably allow the plant to recognize them (Woo et al. 2006).

Four different ABC-transporter encoding genes of *Tri*choderma spp., which are specifically expressed to a greater or less degree when the fungi are exposed to culture filtrates and antibiotics produced by *B. cinerea* and *P. ultimum*, have been described by Woo *et al.* (2006). These *Trichoderma* spp. fungi are known to be able to compete strongly with other microbes and to possess a high innate degree of resistance to an astonishing assortment of chemicals and natural toxins produced by other microbes (Harman 2000, 2004). The results obtained by Woo *et al.* on the ABC-transporter genes may demonstrate the presence in these fungi of a large number and variety of effective membrane pumps; this would therefore help explain their remarkable resistance to such environmental and biochemical stresses.

It is now accepted that *Trichoderma* spp. fungi establish a strong molecular-based communication/interaction with infected plants (the "cross-talk" referred to previously). In these fungi there is a direct interaction between the living cells of plants and the fungal structures; this has been observed and demonstrated in vivo. The type of induced resistance mechanism so far demonstrated for Trichoderma spp. resembles that of the induced systemic resistance (ISR) caused by rhizobacteria but, in contrast, researchers have not yet established the mechanism by which Trichoderma spp. fungi provide a stimulus for the plant defence mechanism and remains an avirulent symbiont that grows together with the plant root system. It is suggested that Trichoderma spp. transfer to or even exchange with the crop plant various receptive molecules that are recognized and able to activate a variety of processes such as defence against phytopathogenic fungi and accelerated development or resistance to such pathogens. It has been demonstrated that Trichoderma spp. produce at least three different types of molecules, called elicitors.

The first type of elicitor produced may include various peptides and proteins, such as serine protease, xylanases, chitinases and glucanases. Trichoderma spp. fungi secrete them when the presence of the pathogen is sensed and the plant recognizes these molecules as foreign fungal molecules, thus activating the expression of resistance genes. The second type of elicitor may be avr-like proteins similar to those found in avirulent pathogens and the avr proteins of Trichoderma spp. itself. The third type of elicitor comprises molecules released from the pathogen and the plant cell wall by the Trichoderma cell wall degradation enzymes (CWDEs). These molecules would stimulate the biocontrol fungi and their antagonistic activity by activating the mycoparasitic gene expression cascade, but also act as elicitors when plant cells are exposed to them or when injected into the root and leaf under-surfaces (Woo et al. 2006).

With respect to recent research into the biology of phytopathogenic fungi, our group has accumulated a considerable amount of new information about the biology of Botrytis cinerea from various different proteomic approaches, which has resulted in the publication of five papers and more than ten congress communications during the last four years (Fernández-Acero et al. 2006b, 2007a, 2007b, 2009, 2010). In 2006, Fernández-Acero et al. (2006b) reported the first approach to the proteome analysis of Botrytis cinerea. Up to four hundred protein spots were resolved in 2-DE after optimizing a protocol for protein extraction using phosphate buffer followed by TCA-acetone precipitation. Due to the absence of genomic data on *B. cinerea*, the proteins had to be sequenced *de novo*, and 21 protein spots were positively identified; these correspond to MDH and GADPH, and some of them are associated with virulence, including these latter two and cyclophilin. This study constituted the basis of subsequent research and was the first approach to analysing the proteome of this important fungus.

Later, Fernández-Acero *et al.* (2007b) carried out a comparative analysis between two *B. cinerea* isolates differing in both virulence and toxin production, in an attempt to find differences between mycelia extracts from the two isolates that could be related to the differences in virulence. The results reported in that study were in agreement with previous identifications of proteins. MDH proteins were identified and found to be over- expressed in the more virulent strains used in that work (*B. cinerea* CECT-2100). The role of MDH as a pathogenicity factor had been sug-

gested previously, because this enzyme catalyzes the reversible conversion of oxalacetate and malate; oxalacetate has been shown to be an oxalic acid precursor which has been described as a pathogenicity factor in *B. cinerea* (Lyon *et al.* 2004). In fact, the influence of pH on the expression and secretion of virulence factors, such as cell wall degrading enzymes, and the biosynthesis of phytotoxins (botrydial and dihydrobotrydial, secreted exclusively in acidic media), support the hypothesis that MDH is likely to play a key role in the cascade of events leading to plant cell death: MDH therefore is probably essential for the whole infection process (Fernández-Acero *et al.* 2007b).

A transcriptional regulator protein of the metE/meth family was found to co-migrate with MDH. This was also found in the proteome of B. cinerea in 2006, but now it was under-expressed in the less pathogenic strain of B. cinerea (B. cinerea CECT-1.11) (Fernández-Acero et al. 2006b, 2007b). The variability of these fungicide targets may be involved in the basic molecular structure of the different fungicide resistance phenotypes described for B. cinerea, as suggested by Fernández-Acero et al. (2007b). Several GAPDHs and a cytosolic cyclophilin were also identified in that work, and these were only present in the more virulent B. cinerea strain. GAPDH is involved in oxidative metabolism and the results support the hypothesis that this metabolism may be more active in the pathogenic than in the non-pathogenic strain. In the case of cyclophilin, the role of this protein as a virulence factor in *B. cinerea* has previously been described by Viaud et al. (2003), and it is associated with the later stages of infection, such as penetration or plant colonization. Thus, the proteomic analyses of two strains of B. cinerea, which differ in virulence as well as in toxin production, was very useful for relating various different cellular components involved in the infection process (Fernández-Acero et al. 2007b).

In a subsequent work, Fernández-Acero *et al.* (2009) describe an analysis of the proteins produced by *B. cinerea* during cellulose degradation. It is known that *B. cinerea* is capable of secreting many different cell wall degrading enzymes; therefore since cellulose is one of the major components of the plant cell wall, the authors adopted this experimental approach in their attempt to identify proteins with crucial roles in this degradation. A total of 267 spots were identified; a list with the identifications is available in the World-2PAGE public database (www.expasy.org/world-2dpage/; accession number: 0005-"*B. cinerea* mycelium cultured in carboxymethyl cellulose"). Proteins that could play a significant role in plant infection were identified, specifically *B. cinerea* peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase and glyceraldehydes 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Fernández-Acero *et al.* 2009) (**Fig. 4**).

In 2009, Shah et al. (2009) published an approach to the secretome of *Botrytis cinerea* using a high-throughput LC-MS/MS approach. The authors used a cellophane membrane and a media supplemented with extract of tomato, strawberry and/or Arabidopsis leaf extract. Botrytis cinerea secreted proteins were identified such as transport proteins, carbohydrate metabolism proteins, peptidases, and oxidation/reduction proteins used by B. cinerea secreted proteins for plant infection and colonization (Shah et al. 2009). Our group has developed a proteomics approach for studying the secretome of *B. cinerea*; recently, an article has been published showing interesting results that open the door to understanding the protein that B. cinerea secretes to the external environment and its induction pathways (Fernández-Acero et al. 2010). This work constitutes the first proteomic approach to the secretome of this phytopathogenic fungus based on 2-DE combined with MS/MS analysis. The secretome has been studied using carbon sources and plantbased elicitors under controlled culture conditions. The different elicitors, as explained in preceding paragraphs, are molecules that activate the plant defences and accelerate the development of resistance against phytopathogenic fungi; these have been used, in this proteomic approach, to stimulate the fungal infection mechanisms in order to identify the



Fig 4 2-DE CBB-stained gels from mycelial extracts of *B. cinerea* 2100 growing in different carbon sources. (A) Glucose, (B) pectin, (C) starch. Proteins were separated on 17 cm, pH 3–10 non-linear gradient IPG gels (IEF) and 14% polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE).

protein secreted by the fungus (Fernández-Acero et al. 2010). More than seventy protein spots have been identified in this work. The proteins identified from the B. cinerea secretome were assigned to categories according to their involvement in different biological processes, including carbohydrate metabolic processes, metabolic processes, and cell wall organization and biogenesis. Classifying the proteins by function, hydrolase activity, catalytic activity, carbohydrate binding, and binding activity, among others, were found. A detailed study of the spots found in our approach show a clear relationship between the proteins identified and the virulence data obtained from B. cinerea. Many proteins identified in this work have not yet been functionally assigned, but their regulation under the conditions assayed demonstrates their functional significance in the mechanisms of infection used by B. cinerea, and the study will advance our functional understanding of Botrytis pathogenesis.

All of these new proteomics approaches and the results achieved by the several research groups working with biocontrol agents or directly with the phytopathogenic fungi, improve our understanding of the complex biology of these microorganisms. The proteome-mining approaches are particularly promising from a biotechnological perspective because the kinds of biomolecule synthesized and secreted by these filamentous fungi can be studied in depth, and may be future alternatives as biocontrol molecules, instead of using biological organisms that depend to a greater or less extent on the particular environmental conditions for their growth. In addition, the proteins identified from these studies can be used as therapeutic targets to enable the design of more specific and ecological fungicides, based on targeted molecular research; some of the proteins identified may even be useful for developing a procedure for field diagnosis of plant infections (Fernández-Acero et al. 2010).

#### CONCLUSIONS

Strawberry is a commercially important crop which production and marketing generate hundreds of millions of Euros. The commercial viability of the crop is continually subject to various risks, one of the most serious of which is the diseases caused by phytopathogenic organisms. Until the last decade, the cultivation of strawberry has followed lines of action established in the 1950s and 60s. During the last years the advances in control measures applied in agriculture, and the new laws and regulations imposed by the international community, the traditional approaches are changing towards a more rational kind of agriculture.

In this review we have discussed recent advances in molecular biology, which are being applied in molecular technologies, to provide new strategies and weapons for combating the diseases that affect the strawberry – specifically those caused by fungal pathogens. The development of new methods for studying and controlling phytopathogenic fungi has occurred in parallel with the development and improvement of molecular technologies. New and more accurate methods for the detection, identification and monitoring of fungal pathogens, even directly from plant materials, have been demonstrated. Real-time PCR assays offer increased sensitivity compared with current gel-based PCR for the diagnosis of these pathogens. Diagnosis based on real-time PCR gives a rapid, sensitive and accurate result in 1-2 days, allowing high-throughput and inexpensive screening of samples. These methods also permit the detection of pathogens from plant material before any symptoms are apparent, and have proved to be a useful tool for studying the epidemiological routes of these strawberry pathogens in fields and nurseries.

Many research groups are devoting considerable efforts to identifying new species of antagonism organisms with capacity to act as biocontrol agents. The soil microflora is a complex microenvironment. Research is needed to clarify which of the pathogens adversely affect growth and cause yield reductions in field planting, how they are distributed in the production area, the time of year that they have the most significant impact on the strawberry plant, the effect of environmental parameters on disease, and the influence of cropping practices on disease severity (Martin et al. 2002). The success of biological approaches to controlling plant diseases must be judged by their performance under field conditions. Although we have shown in this review that several research projects have achieved promising results in terms of the antagonist activity of several species of bacteria and fungi, the main problem is reliability. Unfortunately, discrepancies exist between the antagonistic effect under in vitro conditions and the corresponding in situ efficacy, and although a good efficacy is shown in greenhouse assays under controlled conditions, this is not well correlated with the efficacy under field conditions, because many factors influence the growth and activity of the prospective biocontrol agents. Further studies are necessary to understand the mechanisms of action of antagonism in microorganisms and thereby to improve the biocontrol practices based on those mechanisms.

Advances in proteomics studies and proteome-mining approaches are providing a compendium of tools for a better understanding of the complex biological metabolisms presented by plants, biocontrol agents, and phytopathogenic fungi. Given the achievements reported for these techniques in several fields, including plant pathology, some authors have described the current period as the "post-genomic era" (Fernández-Acero et al. 2007a). We have presented the results obtained by several groups in this field, and their contributions in identifying proteins that may be involved in pathogenesis. Proteomics is a promising field for discovering new factors of pathogenicity and for dissecting infection mechanisms. In the near future, the proteins identified will be used as therapeutic targets, allowing the design of more specific and ecological fungicides based on targeted molecular research. Some of the proteins identified may even be used to develop a procedure for field diagnosis of plant infections (Fernández-Acero et al. 2010).

After reading this review, one might believe that solutions to most of the problems associated with strawberry fungal pathogens have now been found, but nothing could be further from the truth. A broad selection of alternative improved methods has been considered in the current review. Moreover, more accurate and reliable protocols will be published in the coming years. However, the phytopathogenic organisms will continue evolving and new species and new pathotypes of the same pathogens will appear in the field, better adapted to changing environmental conditions and more resistant to fungicides and biomolecules/ toxins produced by biocontrol agents. It is necessary to continue undertaking research projects aimed at developing new methods with practical application, but it is also necessary to continue studying the complex biology of these microorganisms, in order to gain a better understanding that will enable strategies to be devised for their future control, and for the preservation of the highest possible quality of the strawberry crop in the future.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the Spanish Government, the Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología, and the Junta de Andalucía (Regional Government) for the financing of most of the work presented in this Review article, which was carried out by Garrido *et al.* and Fernández-Acero *et al.* (Spanish DGICYT AGL2006-13401-C02-02/AGR and AGL2009-13359-C02-02; Junta de Andalucía, PO7-FQM-02689).

#### REFERENCES

- Abad ZG, Abad JA, Coffey MD, Oudemans PV, Man in't Veld WA, de Gruyter H, Cunnington J, Louws FJ (2008) *Phytophthora bisheria* sp. nov., a new species identified in isolates from the *Rosaceous* raspberry, rose and strawberry in three continents. *Mycologia* **100** (1), 99-110
- Agrios GN (2004) Plant Pathology (5<sup>th</sup> Edn), Academic Press, London, 643 pp Atallah ZK, Bae J, Jansky SH, Rouse DI, Stevenson WR (2007) Multiplex real-time quantitative PCR to detect and quantify Verticillium dahliae colonization in potato lines that differ in response to Verticillium wilt. Phytopathology 97, 865-872
- Atkins SD, Clark M (2004) Fungal molecular diagnostics: A mini review. Journal of Applied Genetics 45 (1), 3-15
- Avis TJ, Rioux D, Simard M, Michaud M, Tweddell RJ (2009) Ultrastructural alterations in *Fusarium sambucinum* and *Heterobasidion annosum* treated with aluminum chloride and sodium metabisulfite. *Phytopathology* 99 (2), 167-175
- Bertelson D (2010) The U.S. strawberry industry. United States Department of Agriculture. Economic research service. Statistical Bulletin Number 914. Available online: http://www.nal.usda.gov/pgdic/Strawberry/ers/ers.htm
- Böszörményi E, Ersek T, Fodor A, Fodor AM, Földes LS, Hevesi M, Hogan JS, Katona Z, Klein MG, Kormány A, Pekár S, Szentirmai A, Sztaricskai F, Taylor RA (2009) Isolation and activity of *Xenorhabdus* antimicrobial compounds against the plant pathogens *Erwinia amylovora* and *Phytophthora nicotianae*. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (3), 746-759
- Cao S, Zheng Y, Tang S, Wang K (2008) Improved control of anthracnose rot in loquat fruit by a combination treatment of *Pichia membranifaciens* with CaCl(2). International Journal of Food Microbiology 126 (1-2), 216-220
- Chiba S, Salaipeth L, Lin YH, Sasaki A, Kanematsu S, Suzuki N (2009) A novel bipartite double-stranded RNA Mycovirus from the white root rot fungus *Rosellinia necatrix*: molecular and biological characterization, taxonomic considerations, and potential for biological control. *Journal of Virology* 83 (24), 12801-12812
- Chiotta ML, Ponsone ML, Combina M, Torres AM, Chulze SN (2009) Aspergillus section Nigri species isolated from different wine-grape growing regions in Argentina. International Journal of Food Microbiology 136 (1), 137-141
- Choi YJ, Shin HD, Thines M (2009) Two novel *Peronospora* species are associated with recent reports of downy mildew on sages. *Mycological Research* 113 (12), 1340-1350
- Chung WH, Chung WC, Peng MT, Yang HR, Huang JW (2010) Specific detection of benzimidazole resistance in *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* from fruit crops by PCR-RFLP. *New Biotechnology* 27 (1), 17-24
- Costa R, Gomes NC, Krögerrecklenfort E, Opelt K, Berg G, Smalla K (2007) Pseudomonas community structure and antagonistic potential in the rhizosphere: Insights gained by combining phylogenetic and functional genebased analyses. Environmental Microbiology 9 (9), 2260-2273

Costa R, Salles JF, Berg G, Smalla K (2006) Cultivation-independent analysis

of *Pseudomonas* species in soil and in the rhizosphere of field-grown *Verticillium dahliae* host plants. *Environmental Microbiology* **8**, 2136-2149

- Cunningham MJ (2000) Genomics and proteomics: The new millennium of drug discovery and development. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods* 44, 291-300
- Curry KJ, Abril M, Avant JB, Smith BJ (2002) Strawberry anthracnose: Histopathology of Collectorichum acutatum and C. fragariae. Phytopathology 92, 1055-1063
- Davik J, Honne BI (2005) Genetic variance and breeding values for resistance to a wind-borne disease *Sphaerotheca macularis* (Wallr. ex Fr.) in strawberry (*Fragaria x ananassa* Duch.) estimated by exploring mixed and spatial models and pedigree information. *Theoretical and Applied* Genetics 111 (2), 256-264
- Debode J, Hemelrijck WV, Baeyen S, Creemers P, Heungens K, Maes M (2009) Quantitative detection and monitoring of *Colletotrichum acutatum* in strawberry leaves using real-time PCR. *Plant Pathology* **58**, 504-514
- Duarte FL, Pais C, Spencer-Martins I, Leão C (2004) Isoenzyme patterns: a valuable molecular tool for the differentiation of Zygosaccharomyces species and detection of misidentified isolates. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 27 (4), 436-442
- Ehsani-Moghaddam B, Charles MT, Carisse O, Khanizadeh S (2006) Superoxide dismutase responses of strawberry cultivars to infection by *Mycosphaerella fragariae*. Journal of Plant Physiology **163** (2), 147-153
- EPPO (2004) European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization. Quarantine Pests for Europe. Available online: http://www.eppo.org/
- EPPO (2009) European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization. Quarantine Pests for Europe. Available online: http://www.eppo.org/
- Errakhi R, Lebrihi A, Barakate M (2009) In vitro and in vivo antagonism of actinomycetes isolated from Moroccan rhizospherical soils against Sclerotium rolfsii: A causal agent of root rot on sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.). Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (2), 672-681
- FAO (2000) Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Statistical Databases. Available online: http://www.fao.org/
- FAO (2004) Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Statistical Databases. Available online: http://www.fao.org/
- FAO (2007) Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Statistical Databases. Available online: http://www.fao.org/
- Fernández-Acero FJ, Carbú M, Garrido C, Cantoral JM, Vallejo I (2006a) Screening study of potential lead compounds for natural products-based fungicides against *Phytophthora* species. *Journal of Phytopathology* 154, 616-621
- Fernández-Acero FJ, Carbú M, Garrido C, Vallejo I, Cantoral JM (2007a) Proteomic advances in phytopathogenic fungi. *Current Proteomics* **4**, 79-88
- Fernández-Acero FJ, Colby T, Harzen A, Cantoral JM, Schmidt J (2009) Proteomic analysis of the phytopathogenic fungus *Botrytis cinerea* during cellulose degradation. *Proteomics* 9, 2892-2902
- Fernández-Acero FJ, Colby T, Harzen A, Carbu M, Wieneke U, Cantoral JM, Schmidt J (2010) 2-DE proteomic approach to the *Botrytis cinerea* secretome induced with different plant elicitors. *Proteomics* 10 (12), 2270-2280
- Fernández-Acero FJ, Jorge I, Calvo E, Vallejo I, Carbú M, Camafeita E, López JA, Cantoral JM, Jorrín J (2006b) Two-dimensional electrophoresis protein profile of the phytopathogenic fungus *Botrytis cinerea*. Proteomics 6, S88-S96
- Fernández-Acero FJ, Jorge I, Calvo E, Vallejo I, Carbú M, Camafeita E, Garrido C, López J, Jorrin J, Cantoral JM (2007b) Proteomic analysis of phytopathogenic fungus *Botrytis cinerea* as a potential tool for identifying pathogenicity factors, therapeutic targets and for basic research. *Archives of Microbiology* 187, 207-215
- Fiume G, Fiume F (2008) Biological control of corky root in tomato. Communication in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences 73 (2), 233-248
- Freeman S, Minz D, Jurkevitch E, Maymon M, Shabi E (2000) Molecular analyses of *Colletotrichum* species from almond and other fruit. *Phytopathol*ogy 90, 608-614
- Garrido C, Carbú M, Fernández-Acero FJ, Budge G, Vallejo I, Coyler A, Cantoral JM (2008) Isolation and pathogenicity of *Colletotrichum* spp. causing anthracnose of strawberry in south west Spain. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 120, 409-415
- Garrido C, Carbú M, Fernández-Acero FJ, Vallejo I, Cantoral JM (2009a) Phylogenetic relationships and genome organisation of *Colletotrichum acutatum* causing anthracnose in strawberry. *European Journal of Plant Pathol*ogy 125, 397-411
- Garrido C, Carbú M, Fernández-Acero FJ, Boonham N, Colyer A, Cantoral JM, Budge G (2009b) Development of protocols for detection of *Colletotrichum acutatum* and monitoring of strawberry anthracnose using realtime PCR. *Plant Pathology* **58**, 43-51
- Grinyer J, Hunt S, McKay M, Herbert BR, Nevalainen H (2005) Proteomic response of the biological control fungus *Trichoderma atroviride* to growth on the cell walls of *Rhizoctonia solani*. *Current Genetics* 47, 381-383
- Grinyer J, McKay M, Nevalainen H, Herbert BR (2004) Fungal proteomics: Initial mapping of biological control strain *Trichoderma harzianum*. Current Genetics 45, 163-169

Gutiérrez L, Escudero A, Batlle R, Nerín C (2009) Effect of mixed antimic-

robial agents and flavors in active packaging films. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 57 (18), 8564-8571

- Haesler F, Hagn A, Frommberger M, Hertkorn N, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Munch JC, Schloter M (2008) *In vitro* antagonism of an actinobacterial *Kitasatospora* isolate against the plant pathogen *Phytophthora citricola* as elucidated with ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 75 (2), 188-195
- Harman GE (2000) Myths and dogmas of biocontrol: Changes in perceptions derived from research on *Trichoderma harzianum* T-22. *Plant Disease* 84, 377-393
- Harman GE, Lorito M, Lynch JM (2004) Uses of *Trichoderma* spp. to alleviate or remediate soil and water pollution. *Advances in Applied Microbiol*ogy 56, 313-330
- Hauke K, Creemers P, Brugmans W, Van Laer S (2004) Signum, a new fungicide with interesting properties in resistance management of fungal diseases in strawberries. *Communication in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences* 69 (4), 743-755
- Heeb S, Hass D (2001) Regulatory roles of the GacS/GacA two-component system in plant-associated and other gram negative bacteria. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14 (12), 1351-1363
- Herrera-Vasquez JA, Cebrian MD, Alfaro-Fernández A, Cordoba-Selles MD, Jorda C (2009) Multiplex PCR assay for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of *Olpidium bornovanus*, *O. brassicae*, and *O. virulentus*. *Mycological Research* **113** (5), 602-610
- Howell CR (2003) Mechanisms employed by *Trichoderma* species in the biological control of plant diseases. *Plant Disease* 87, 4-10
- Hughes KJD, Lane CR, Cook RTA (1997) Development of a rapid method for the detection and identification of *Colletotrichum acutatum*. In: *Diagnosis* and Identification of Plant Pathogens. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands, pp 113-116
- JA (2004) Government of Andalusia (in Spanish). Junta de Andalucía. Available online: http://www.juntadeandalucia.es/organismos/agriculturaypesca.html
- Javaid A, Amin M (2009) Antifungal activity of methanol and n-hexane extracts of three *Chenopodium* species against *Macrophomina phaseolina*. *Natural Products Research* 23 (12), 1120-1127
- Kong P, Moorman GW, Lea-Cox JD, Ross DS, Richardson PA, Hong C (2009) Zoosporic tolerance to pH stress and its implications for *Phytophthora* species in aquatic ecosystems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 75 (13), 4307-4314
- Lamondia JA, Cowles RS (2005) Comparison of *Pratylenchus penetrans* infection and *Maladera castanea* feeding on strawberry root rot. *Journal of Nematology* 37 (2), 131-135
- Larsen RC, Vandemark GJ, Hughes TJ, Grau CR (2007) Development of a real-time polymerase chain reaction assay for quantifying *Verticillium alboatrum* DNA in resistant and susceptible alfalfa. *Phytopathology* 97 (11), 1519-1525
- Lievens B, Brouwer M, Vanachter ACRC, Lévesque CA, Cammue BPA, Thomma BPHJ (2003) Design and development of a DNA array for rapid detection and identification of multiple tomato vascular wilt pathogens. *FEMS Microbiological Letters* **223**, 113-122
- Lievens B, Brouwer M, Vanachter AC, Lévesque CA, Cammue BP, Thomma BP (2005) Quantitative assessment of phytopathogenic fungi in various substrates using a DNA microarray. *Environmental Microbiology* 7 (11), 1698-1710
- Liu LN, Zhang JZ, Xu T (2009) Histopathological studies of sclerotia of *Rhi-zoctonia solani* parasitized by the EGFP transformant of *Trichoderma virens*. Letters in Applied Microbiology 49 (6), 745-750
- Liu X, Wang J, Gou P, Mao C, Zhu ZR, Li H (2007) In vitro inhibition of postharvest pathogens of fruit and control of gray mold of strawberry and green mold of citrus by aureobasidin A. International Journal of Food Microbiology 119 (3), 223-229
- Lyon GD, Goodman BA, Williamson B (2004) Botrytis cinerea perturbs redox processes as an attack strategy in plants. In: Edad Y, Williamson B, Tudzynski P, Delen N (Eds) Botrytis: Biology, Pathology and Control, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 119-141
- Martin FN, Bull CT (2002) Biological approaches for control of root pathogens of strawberry. *Phytopathology* 92 (12), 1356-1362
- Maas JL (1998) Compendium of Strawberry Diseases (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, 98 pp
- Maas JL (2004) Strawberry disease management. In: *Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables* (Vol II), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands, pp 441-483
- Martínez-Culebras PV, Querol A, Suárez-Fernández MB, García-López MD, Barrio E (2003) Phylogenetic relationships among *Colletotrichum* pathogens of strawberry and design of PCR primers for their identification. *Journal of Phytopathology* **151**, 135-143
- Massart S, Jijakli HM (2007) Use of molecular techniques to elucidate the mechanisms of action of fungal biocontrol agents: A review. Journal of Microbiological Methods 69, 229-241
- McCartney HA, Foster SJ, Fraaije BA, Ward E (2003) Molecular diagnostics for fungal plant pathogens. *Pest Management Science* **59**, 129-142
- Mehli L, Kjellsen TD, Dewey FM, Hietala AM (2005) A case study from the interaction of strawberry and *Botrytis cinerea* highlights the benefits of comonitoring both partners at genomic and mRNA level. *New Phytologist* 168,

465-474

- Mertely JC, Seijo T, Peres N (2005) First report of *Macrophomina phaseolina* causing ac Rot of strawberry in Florida. *Plant Disease* **89**, 434
- Mills PR, SreenivasaprasadS S, Brown AE (1992) Detection and differentiation of Colletotrichum gloeosporioides isolates using PCR. FEMS Microbiology Letters 98, 137-144
- Miyamoto Y, Ishii Y, Honda A, Masunaka A, Tsuge T, Yamamoto M, Ohtani K, Fukumoto T, Gomi K, Peever TL, Akimitsu K (2009) Function of genes encoding acyl-coa synthetase and enoyl-coa hydratase for host-selective act-toxin biosynthesis in the tangerine pathotype of *Alternaria alternata*. *Phytopathology* **99** (4), 369-377
- Morocko I, Fatehi J (2007) Molecular characterization of strawberry pathogen Gnomonia fragariae and its genetic relatedness to other Gnomonia species and members of Diaporthales. Mycological Research 111, 603-614
- Nicastro G, Orsomando G, Ferrari E, Manconi L, Desario F, Amici A, Naso A, Carpaneto A, Pertinhez TA, Ruggieri S, Spisni A (2009) Solution structure of the phytotoxic protein PcF: The first characterized member of the *Phytophthora* PcF toxin family. *Protein Science* **18 (8)**, 1786-1791
- Nita M, Ellis MA, Madden LV (2003) Reliability and accuracy of visual estimation of phomopsis leaf blight of strawberry. *Phytopathology* 93 (8), 995-1005
- Okayama K (1991) Selection [sic] and effect of antagonistic on Fusarium wilt of strawberries. *Bulletin of the Nara-ken Agricultural Experiment Station* **19**, 67-78
- Ortega-Morales BO, Ortega-Morales FN, Lara-Reyna J, De la Rosa-García SC, Martínez-Hernández A, Montero-M J (2009) Antagonism of *Bacillus* spp. isolated from marine biofilms against terrestrial phytopathogenic fungi. *Marine Biotechnology (NY)* 11 (3), 375-383
- Ozaki S, Fukuda S, Fujita T, Kishimoto N (2008) RAPD analysis of salttolerant yeasts from contaminated seasoned pickled plums and their growth inhibition using food additives. *Biocontrol Science* 13 (4), 125-130
- Polianskaia LM, Ozerskaia SM, Kochkina GA, Ivanushkina NE, Golovchenko AV, Zviagintsev DG (2003) The quantity and structure of the rootassociated microbial complexes of two greenhouse rose cultivars. *Mikrobiologiya* 72 (4), 554-562
- Prodorutti D, Vanblaere T, Gobbin D, Pellegrini A, Gessler C, Pertot I (2009) Genetic diversity of *Armillaria* spp. infecting highbush blueberry in northern Italy (Trentino region). *Phytopathology* **99** (6), 651-658
- Rawsthorne H, Phister TG (2009) Detection of viable Zygosaccharomyces bailii in fruit juices using ethidium monoazide bromide and real-time PCR. International Journal of Food Microbiology 131 (2-3), 246-250
- Redondo C, Cubero J, Melgarejo P (2009) Characterization of *Penicillium* species by ribosomal DNA sequencing and BOX, ERIC and REP-PCR analysis. *Mycopathologia* **168** (1), 11-22
- Ren L, Li G, Jiang D (2010) Characterization of some culture factors affecting oxalate degradation by the mycoparasite *Coniothyrium minitans*. Journal of Applied Microbiology 108 (1), 173-180
- Rose JKC, Bashir S, Giovannoni JJ, Jahn MM, Saravanan R (2004) Tackling the plant proteome: practical approaches, hurdles and experimental tools. *The Plant Journal* 39, 715-733
- Ruiz-Moyano S, Benito MJ, Martín A, Aranda E, Hernández A, Córdoba MG (2009) Characterization of molds isolated from smoked paprika by PCR-RFLP and micellar electrokinetic capillary electrophoresis. *Food Microbiol*ogy 26 (8), 776-782
- Santana AS, Rosenthal A, Massaguer PR (2009) Heat resistance and the effects of continuous pasteurization on the inactivation of *Byssochlamys fulva* ascospores in clarified apple juice. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 107 (1), 197-209
- Shafique S, Bajwa R, Shafique S (2009) Mutation of Alternaria tenuissima FCBP-252 for hyper-active alpha-amylase. Indian Journal of Experimental Biology 47 (7), 591-596
- Shah P, Atwood JA, Orlando R, El Mubarek H, Podila GK, Davis MR (2009) Comparative proteomic analysis of *Botrytis cinerea* secretome. *Journal of Proteome Research* **8**, 1123-1130
- Singleton LL, Mihail JD, Rush CM (1992) Methods for Research on Soilborne Phytopathogenic Fungi, APS Press, St. Paul, MN, USA, 265 pp
- Smith BJ (2008) Epidemiology and pathology of strawberry anthracnose: a North American perspective. *HortScience* 42, 69-73
- Sreenivasaprasad S, Brown AE, Mills PR (1992) DNA sequence variation and interrelationships among *Colletotrichum* species causing strawberry anthracnose. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 41, 265-281
- Sreenivasaprasad S, Sharada K, Brown AE, Mills PR (1996) PCR-based detection of *Colletotrichum acutatum* on strawberry. *Plant Pathology* 45, 650-655
- Suárez-Fernández MB, Walsh K, Boonham N, O'Neill T, Pearson S, Barker I (2005) Development of real-time PCR (TaqMan) assays for the detection and quantification of *Botrytis cinerea in planta*. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 43, 890-899
- Sutton JC (1994) Biological control of strawberry diseases. Advances in Strawberry Research 13, 1-12
- Tezuka N, Makino T (1991) Biological control of Fusarium wilt of strawberry by non-pathogenic Fusarium oxysporum isolated from strawberry (in Japanese). Annual Meeting of Phytopathological Society from Japan 57, 506-511

- Triky-Dotan S, Austerweil M, Steiner B, Peretz-Alon Y, Katan J, Gamliel A (2009) Accelerated degradation of metam-sodium in soil and consequences for root-disease management. *Phytopathology* **99** (4), 362-368
- Viaud M, Brunet-Simon A, Brygoo Y, Pradier JM, Levis C (2003) Cyclophilin A and calcineurin functions investigated by gene inactivation, cyclosporine A inhibition and cDNA arrays approaches in the phytopathogenic fungus *Botrytis cinerea*. *Molecular Microbiology* **50**, 1451-1465
- Wilhelm S, Paulus A (1980) How soil fumigation benefits the California strawberry industry. *Plant Diseases* 64, 264-270
- Whitaker VM, Bradeen JM, Debener T, Biber A, Hokanson SC (2009) Rdr3, a novel locus conferring black spot disease resistance in tetraploid rose: Genetic analysis, LRR profiling, and SCAR marker development. *Theoretical* and Applied Genetics **120** (3), 573-585
- Whitelaw-Weckert MA, Curtin SJ, Huang R, Steel CC, Blanchard CL, Roffey PE (2007) Phylogenetic relationships and pathogenicity of *Colletotri*-

*chum acutatum* isolates from grape in subtropical Australia. *Plant Pathology* **56**, 448-463

- Woo SL, Fogliano V, Mach RL, Scala F, Zoina A, Kibicek CP, Lorito M (2002) Mycoparasitic *Trichoderma* strains are activated by host-derived molecules. In: Vannacci G, Sarrocco S (Eds) 6<sup>th</sup> European Conference on Fungal Genetics, April 6-9, Edizioni Plus, Pisa, Italy, p 306 (Abstract)
- Woo SL, Ruocco M, Ciliento R, Lanzuise S, Vinale F, Formisano E, Scala V, Turrà D, Scala F, Zoina A, Abadi K, Lorito M (2003) Molecular factors involved in the interaction between plants, pathogens and biocontrol fungi. In: 11<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, July 18-27, St. Petersburg, Russia, p 368 (Abstract)
- Woo SL, Scala F, Ruocco M, Lorito M (2006) The molecular biology of the interactions between *Trichoderma* spp., phytopathogenic fungi, and plants. *Phytopathology* 96, 181-185